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ABSTRACT

The following aspects of the ca. A.D. 1615 Neutral
Iroquoian Christianson village site will be emphasized:
1. an examination of the ecological factors which may
have influenced its placement; 2. the morphology of the
site, focusing on interior longhouse planning; and 3.
analysis of the artifact assemblage. The artifact
descriptions are primarily directed at those parts of the
assemblage which could be attributed to ethnohistorically
documented accounts of contacts the Neutral had with
aboriginal groups and Europeans. While many of the
connections are inferred archaeologically to have been
based in the pre-European contact period, certain
branches developed or, more possibly, were amplified
after the Neutral became involved on a large scale in the
fur trade some time around A.D. 1615. The desire of
Europeans to deal directly with the Neutral about this
time is interpreted as being the initiation of intensive
participation of the Neutral in the fur trade.

Ceramic, lithic, shell, and European artifacts,
perhaps certain faunal remains, and aspects of longhouse
interments indicate the Christianson site belongs to the

period when ZEuropeans, perhaps Etienne Brulé in 1615, first

iii



entered Neutralia.

As such, the identification of the intensity of
foreign manifestations are important in identifying the
pervasiveness of the effect of Europeans on Neutral
relationships. While there does appear to have been
notable consequences of the Neutral involvement in the
fur trade, such as the Neutral-Fire Nation wars and an
increased trade in marine shell, the overall intensity is
not as great for the entire network as may have been

suspected from an ethnocentric point of view.
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The archaeological approach is
severely limited by the nature
of the evidence with which it
can work, and it is also clear
that a number of pleces of the
skeleton-like picture puzzle
are still missing.

Where key data are lacking the
writer will not hesitate %o
postulate its nature,...
Prediction of this sort is one
of the most useful features of
a historical model, and it is
essential to logical programs
of field research.

(Ford 1969:183)

And so, onward....

xvii
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CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

Late 16th and early 17th century Neutral archaeology
around the western end of Lake Ontario is now at the stage
where preliminary temporal and spatial syntheses can be
undertaken. If the proposed date of ca. A.D. 1615 for the
Christianson (AiHa-2) site (Noble 1970) is accurate, then
this site would prove to be significant in understanding
the early historic period. This thesis has three major
aspects with the Christianson site artifact assemblage
and settlement patterning being the focus:

1. The description of the artifacts and settlement
data from the two weekend 1968 test excavations undertaken
by Ian Kenyon and David Stothers under the direction of
Professor C.E. Stortroen; the 1969 excavations directed by
Dr. W.C. Noble; selected surface material collected by Dr.
P.N. Christianson; and primarily, the 1979 excavations
undertaken by the author. Kenyon and Stothers' investigations
were limited to excavation of one rich midden and some
testing over the site; artifactually the midden was
productive. The one month 1969 excavation focused toward
the centre of the village, produced the first historic
Neutral house to be identified (Noble 1970), as well as, the

excavation of a rich midden in Area A. Peripheral testing



and mapping helped to delimit the site, and in all a total
of 262m2 were excavated in 1969. Excavation for the 1979
season was directed at increasing the artifact sample, but
primarily the intent was to increase the settlement
information from various areas of the site and confirm the
presence of standard Neutral longhouse structures, as well
as to observe village morphology. The resultant extensive
excavations over a six week period examined 953m2 (Figure
1), and thus, 1215m2, or approximately 12%, have been
excavated from this 1.6 hectare (3.5 acre) village.

Aspects of the settlement patterning which will be
examined in detail will be (a) the ecological factors
which were conducive to site placement, as outlined by
Trigger (1963), and (b) the discussion of historic Neutral
longhouse interior planning. Detailed descriptions of the
Christianson site structures and the relationships between
the interior features produces a pattern for Neutral
structures which, while exhibiting some intra- and inter-
site variability, tends to be quite repetitive.

2. The amount of archaeological investigation of the
late 16th and early 17th century Neutral has resulted in
the identification of distinct spatial groupings with
temporal distributions. A cluster of excavated sites,
situated about the headwaters of the Spencer and Bronte

creeks, include the Christianson, Bogle I, Bogle II, Hood,
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and Hamilton sites (Noble 1970, Lennox 1977a, 1978,
personal communication 1980). Three other sites, Cleveland,
Fonger, and Walker, are more centrally located along
primary and secondary tributaries of the Grand River (Noble
1972, Warrick 1979, Wright 1977). More recently, the
southerly Thorold site has been excavated (Noble 1980a); it
is situated along the Niagara Escarpment near St. Catharines
(Figure 2). Not only is there some spatial separation between
these excavated sites, but some temporal variations also
exist spanning the early and late protohistoric to various
stages of the historic period. The Cleveland and Fonger
sites date to the period prior to direct contact of the
Neutrals with Europeans in Neutralia, with Cleveland dating
to ca. 1540 (Noble 1972) and Fonger to ca. 1600-1610
(Warrick 1979a, 1979b). The large Walker town appears to
have been occupied during the ca. 1626-1640 period (Wright
1977). Aside from the Christianson site, the other four
Spencer-Bronte drainage sites all date to the later stages
of Neutral existence; Hood and Bogle I to ca. 1630-1641,
and Hamilton and Bogle II to ca. 1638-1651 (Lennox 1978,
personal communication 1980, 1977a).

This now permits the potential for comparisons
between what may be as many as nine distinct tribal
entities within a Neutral confederacy which have been

delineated ethnohistorically, cartographically, and



Bronte
Hood Creek

-~

&{ <Bogle t and II

Hamilton

Spencer
s Creek
Cleveland -
Fonger
y ) Walker
~ C\ // \—\’ -
\\
\
Grand
River

/V"M*\\

Lake Ontario

“Thorold )
Q
Lake Erie
Q 5 /o
—
km

FIGURE 2. Excavated late 16th and early 17th century Neutral

sites in Ontario.



archaeologically. Seven groups have been identified by the

first two means; the Attiouandaronk in the middle of

Neutralia, the Ongularahronon in the Niagara Peninsula,

the Aondironon in western New York, the Antouaronon on
the lower Grand River, the Kakouagoga at extreme

southeastern Lake Erie, the Ontontarounon in from the Lake

Ontario shoreline in Halton County, and the Annochiaronon

at the northwest end of Lake Ontario extending eastward

from Milton (White 1972:71, Noble 1977:19, 1978:163 note 5).
Trigger (personal communication 1981) contends that the
Kakouagoga may be the Erie. At least two additional

unnamed tribes may be identified archaeologically; one
around Strabane, nortwest of Hamilton, and a second, between
Port Colbourne and Point Albino (Noble 1977:19, 1978:163
note 5). The possible unnamed tribe in the Strabane vicinity
may in fact be several tribes, however, such identifications
are beyond the scope of this thesis. What will be sought

are preliminary inter-site temporal trends of certain
artifact types. Problems inherent in such comparisons are
whether the differences are actually of temporal
significance or if the physical separation of the various
sites also influenced the results. Comparing the Spencer-
Bronte drainage, early historic Christianson site with the
historic, central region Walker site to produce a seriation

of some ceramic feature may be misleading, or even invalid,



because they may be separate tribal entities. It is
anticipated, however, that more detalled examinations of
sites from various chronological stages in a small area,
for example, the headwaters of the Spencer Creek on which
the Christianson site is located, will be much more
valuable in identifying distinct cultural groupings
within the confederacy.

3. The presence of certain artifact assemblage
features may be attributable to ethnohistorically
documented contacts the Neutrals had with Europeans and
various aboriginal groups during the ca. 1615-1651 period.
Unlike the Huron, primary accounts of European visitations
to the Neutrals are limited to two direct encounters: the
first during the late fall of 1626 by the Recollet Joseph
de la Roche Daillon (Sagard 1866 1ii:800), and the second
over the winter of 1640-1641 by the Jesuits Jean de
Bréebeuf (Thwaites 1896-1901 xx:95, 103, 105) and Pierre Marie
Joseph Chaumonot (Chaumonot 1858:53, 58, Thwaites 1896-
1901 xviii:37-41). These references can be augmented by the
secondary accounts given by Champlain (Biggar 1922-1936
1ii:213-226) of the travels of Etienne Brulé which
presumably took him through Neutralia in 1615 and again in
1616 on his return from the Susquehannock, and in 1623 by
Sagard ( Sagard 1866:800). From these accounts Br{ilé appears

to have been to or through Neutralia at least twice (Noble



1980a:43). Various other passages in the Jesuit Relations,

including Jerome Lalemant's lengthy discussion (Thwaites
1896-1901 xxi:187-237), permit temporal and spatial
identifications of the interaction between the Neutrals,
other Iroquolan and Algonkian groups, and Europeans, through
confrontation and exchange. These limited written references
tend to be borne out archaeologically, and despite their
paucity help to provide important insight into the
cosmopolitan nature of the Neutrals and their inter-tribal
and inter-cultural relations, particularly as they appear
to have been developed or magnified as a result of their
increased involvement in the European fur trade after 1615.
Foreign manifestations within Neutral artifact
assemblages and the intricacies of theilr presence which
were the results of direct and indirect links in trading
networks, and as consequences of, or as activities ancillary
to the physical conflicts, can be more readily interpreted
with the increased archaeological research on the late
16th and early 17th century Neutrals. Based on archaeological
recoveries and aided by the ethnohistoric accounts, a date
of ca. 1615 is forwarded for the Christianson site, which
places 1t in a transitional stage where the effects of the
burgeoning fur trade and the Neutrals' increasing
involvement in it should be observable.

What is anticipated is that the accounts of Neutral



connections and relations with various groups will all be
interrelated as a direct result of their participation on
a large scale in the European fur trade. Various artifact
types, most notably European goods and marine shell, and
particularly the frequencies in which they begin to appear
on the Christianson site, may be the result of Neutral
participation in wide ranging trade networks. According to
Heidenreich (1971:227, 229), such networks developed
historically as a result of the fur trade, and not
prehistorically since Huron and Neutral economies both
permitted a self-sufficiency which did not require trade
on any large scale. This, Heidenreich contends, is
substantiated by the very limited quantities of foreign
goods on pre-contact Huron sites. That trade may have
largely been in perishable goods, as it continued to be in
the historic period, was not considered by Heidenreich.
Hunt (1940:16-17), Trigger (1976:168-176), and Ramsden
(1978:102), to the contrary contend that trade connections
were simply expansions or extensions of already existing
prehistoric networks which could have readily accommodated
the Europeans into intertribal trading systems perhaps
as early as A.D. 1500 in southern Ontario on an indirect
basis (Ramsden 1978:101).

Aspects of the Christianson site assemblage appear to

mark a threshold in the nature or intensity of European
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fur trade developments in southern Ontario around ca. 1615,
a pattern which had been developing slowly and on a limited
scale since the 16th century (Trigger 1978). The
proliferation of trade items after ca. 1615 may indicate
more intensive trade through neighbouring Iroquolan and
Algonkian groups, likely a result of direct involvement
with Europeans coming from Huronia. Natural resources
offered by the Neutrals and their political neutrality

were important factors which led to the profitable

position they began to capitalize upon in widespread
trading networks around the turn of the 17th century. The
presence of certain artifact attributes, such as increasing
amounts of shell tempered ceramics and cherts from
southwestern Ontario, Michigan and Ohio, may be attributable
to alterations in Neutral political developments which

are substantiated from ethnohistoric accounts.

The Neutrals' involvement in realignments of alliances,
as well as hostilities, during the historic period as
mirrored in the artifact assemblage and documented in the
ethnohistoric record will permeate the artifact descriptions

which are to follow.



CHAPTER 2

SETTLEMENT PATTERN

Christianson Site Location

The Christianson site is situated on the south half of
Lot 35, Concession VI of Beverly Township, Regional
Municipality of Hamilton-Wentworth (Figure 3). This locality
has four favourable features: (1) an elevated position,
(2) a permanent water supply, (3) an arable hinterland,
and (4) proximity to an area of abundant wild game.

Defensible Positioning and Site Size

This area of Beverly Township is part of the
Flamborough Plain, a limestone plain characterized by thin
bouldery glacial till or sandy and gravelly soils, steep-
sided but frequently irregularly contoured drumlins in the
northern section, and by numerous swamps (Presant, Wicklund
and Matthews 1965:19, Chapman and Putnam 1973:203). The
Christianson site itself lies on the southern boundary of
the drumlin field, toward the western edge of the
southernmost of three interconnected drumlins. Consequently,
the western and southern flanks of the site are protected by
abrupt breaks in elevation of approximately ten metres
(Figure 1). The eastern edge of the site opens onto the
flat expanse of the drumlin while the northern boundary is

defined by an inter-drumlin depression which does not

11



Christianson Site
(AiHa-2)

Shaver Hill Ossuary
(AiHa=1)

Westover Conc

[ ——
Spencer  ECwa—mm
/-\/ /7 e AiHa-1

\\ \ AiHa-2

esS\Oﬂ 6

m

\ @

\

Cambridge

/60/

Hamilton / }

FIGURE 3. Christianson and

Shaver Hill sites location.

12



13

present the same magnitude of slope as seen along the
southern and western boundaries of the site. Extensive
testing in 1968 and 1969 indicated that the village did
not continue eastwards past the laneway. Furthermore, while
investigations in the area to the immediate west of the
laneway produced no readily identifiable house structures,
Midden C was encountered in 1979, and directly west of 1it,
three rows of post moulds between Houses 6 and 7. On this
basis, the size of the Christianson site can be estimated
at 1.6 hectares (3.5 acres), covering the southwestern
corner of the drumlin. Breaks in the slope along the
southern and western boundaries are naturally defensible,
while palisading may have been necessary to provide
protection along the north and presumably eastern edges.
Extensive disturbance caused by 19th and 20th century
house and barn construction towards the eastern section
of the site has obscured any remnants of defensive
structures in that area.

Water Supply

Flowing at the base of the western slope of the
drumlin is Spencer Creek, one of the two major streams
which drain the Flamborough Plain, and whose permanent
flow is maintained by swamps, particularly the Beverly
Swamp, four kilometres north of the site (Chapman and

Putnam 1973:203). Erosion by the creek, particularly
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before the construction of the Valens Dam, has been
intensive, and has undoubtedly steepened the bank defining
the western edge of the village.

Soil Types in the Christianson Site Vicinity

Continuous water supply and arable land were perhaps
the two most important considerations when choosing a
location for a village the size of Christianson. As
previously mentioned, the site is located at the intersection
of a high relief drumlin field to the north and a relatively
flat expanse to the south. Soils of differing types and
agricultural potential are associated with each topographical
region. Generally, good soil in the Flamborough Plain is not
plentiful, being either too wet, stony, or shallow,
particularly between the drumlins (Presant, Wicklund and
Matthews 1965:18, Chapman and Putnam 1973:203). These
limitations are further compounded by the effect of erosion
on the relatively steeply sloped drumlins of the northern
section.

An examination of soil types and their potential for
sustaining 20th century agriculture may allow a preliminary
insight into this aspect for the location of the 17th
century Christianson site. Agricultural hinterland,
pedological, and locational analyses have been undertaken
for the Huron (Heidenreich 1971, Mulstein and Bowman 1979) and

the Neutral (Konrad 1975, Stevens 1974). While such
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detailed analyses were not undertaken here, a presentation
of soil capability and other attributes of the physical
environment may complement the research into this aspect
of Neutral archaeology.

Agricultural lands in the vicinity of the Christianson
site are bounded to the northwest and southeast by large
tracts of marshland (Figure 4). A corridor running in a
northeast-southwesterly direction, some four kilometres
wide and interspersed to the northeast with inter-drumlin
marshland, provides a potentially arable hinterland which
could have been exploited by the Christianson site
inhabitants.

Accessibility to the soils to the west and southwest
of the site is not hindered by marsh, but the predominant
Farmington loam and Colwood silt loams are of such a
shallow and either moisture deficient or poorly drained
nature as to preclude their utilization for pursuits other
than pasture (Presant, Wicklund and Matthews 1965:38, 55).
To the north of the site, Guelph series loams are the
characteristic drumlin soils, while inter-drumlin areas
are comprised of low-lying marsh or London series loams.
The Guelph and London loams are potentially the premium
soils in the immediate vicinity of the Christianson site,
extending in a north-northeasterly direction from the site

for a distance of approximately six kilometres. The London
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loam, while imperfectly drained, does possess a good
moilsture retention capability, is relatively stone-free,
and when combined with the gentle slope of between 2% and
5% in the area which counteracts the mineral and soil
depletions caused by erosion, its soil capability for
agriculture is rated as Class 1 (Presant, Wicklund and
Matthews 1965:30). Guelph loams are also classified as
Class 1 soils when the slope is less than 5%. However, the
area to the north of the site is characterized by steep-
sided drumlins with slopes between 6% and 30%, with resultant
classification being reduced to Class 2e, "e" denoting that
damage caused by erosion is a limitation on agricultural
practices (Presant, Wicklund and Matthews 1965:48, 49).
Class 2 soils, however, like Class 1 soils are considered
suitable for sustained production of common field crops, and
the well-drained Guelph loams currently support forage
crops, spring grains and winter wheat, while some level
areas are used for growing silage, grain corn and potatoes.
The London loams, again at present, are utilized more
extensively than the Guelph soils for row and market crops
(Presant, Wicklund and Matthews 1965:29, 30, 47).

In a strip approximately 1.5 kilometres wide between
the swamp to the east of the site and the London and Guelph
loams to the north and northeast is a stretch of Class 2

soils extending from two kilometres from the site outward
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in a northeasterly direction. In this section, from two to
six kilometres from the site, Vineland sandy loams, Burford
loams, and Parkhill loams predominate. Respectively, their
subclasses are "f", "fm", and "w", "f" signifying soil

which possesses low fertility but which may be corrected
through the use of fertiligzers, "m", soils that are affected
by droughtiness which is a result of inherent soil
characteristics, and "w", soils whose use for agriculture

is limited by excess water (Presant, Wicklund and Matthews
1965:48) .

Vineland sandy loams are suited for field and sweet
corn and tomatoes, crops which require considerable moisture
during the summer, while the Burford loams, at present,
support forage crops, spring grains, winter wheat and corn
(Presant, Wicklund and Matthews 1965:42). Conversely,
poorly drained Parkhill loam areas have reverted to bush or
are used as unimproved pasture (Presant, Wicklund and
Matthews 1965:31).

To the immediate south of the site, and more precisely,
to the south of the southwestern projections of the swamp,
Vineland and Grimsby sandy loams extend to the area just
east of Barlow Creek. The Grimsby sandy loams are also
rated as Class 2fm soils (Presant, Wicklund and Matthews
1965:50), with the major limitation being moisture

deficiency during dry periods, but which presently can
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support forage crops, grain and sweet corn, spring grains,
fall wheat, tomatoes, and strawberries (Presant, Wicklund
and Matthews 1965:40).

While an extensive examination of historic Neutral
site distributions would be necessary to attempt to
identify associations between site location and certain
soil types, there is a notable proximity of all sites in
the area to London loams, even the apparently isolated
Stewart site, which is, however, adjacent to only a small
pocket. There is an almost peripheral distribution of these
sites about the drumlin field, in Class 2 soil areas, around
the Class 1 London and Guelph soils. The late historic
Robertson site is the only site in the inter-swamp area
to be isolated from Class 2 Burford, Vineland, Grimsby, and
Parkhill soils. Tentatively, it would seem that, with the
exception of the Robertson site, agricultural hinterlands
congisted of a portion of the premium London and Guelph loams
as well as localized pockets of soils of lower capability
around the:individual sites.

The location of the Christianson site along the
southern boundary of the better soils may permit speculation
that such a site placement was intentional planning which,
while allowing exploitation of the premium soils, also
depended on the secondary class solls, perhaps in order to

avold exhaustion of the London and Guelph loams so as to
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preserve some against the time when village movement was
required.

While premature at this point, the identification of
such village movements about the Spencer and Bronte creek
drainage systems along the lines of that undertaken by
Tuck (1971) for the Onondaga may ultimately permit the
definition of discrete tribal entities within the Spencer-
Bronte drainage cluster of northern Neutral sites.

Wild Game Availability

The physical environment of southern Ontario, and
particularly that in the vicinity of the Christianson site,
was capable of supporting large quantities of wild animals.
Swamps and stands of towering pines, while acting as
barriers inhibiting initial attempts at pioneer settlement
in this section of Beverly Township (Cornell 1889:9),
provided aboriginal inhabitants with a food source which
was availlable throughout the year. Scarcity of game around
the villages which necessitated hunting expeditions over
great distances for the Huron (Thwaites 1896-1901 xxxiii:
83, Tooker 1967:65, Gramly 1977) was not a problem for the
Neutral (Trigger 1976:95), especially those settled near
the swamps. The Beverly Swamp in particular, and no doubt
the other swamps, were, and still are, the most important
areas for wildlife in the Spencer Creek watershed. Heavy

concentrations of white-tailed deer (0Odocoileus virginianus)
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and the eastern cottontail (Sylvilagus floridanus) are

still found in and around the Beverly Swamp (Thomson 1965:

41), while the presence of wolves (Canis lupus) and beaver

(Castor canadensis) was reported in the region during the

19th century (Kernighan 1971:x).

Ethnohistorically, the Neutral were reported to have
hunted "Stags, Cows, wild Cats, wolves, black beasts,
Beaver, and other animals of which the skin and the flesh
are valuable" (Thwaites 1896-1901 xx1:195-197). Animals
referred to as Stags and Cows may be deer, wild Cats,

raccoon (Procyon lotor), and the black beasts, black bears

(Ursus americanus) or possibly black squirrels (Sciurus

carolinensis). Deer were particularly plentiful in the

area according to Sagard (Wrong 1939:225), and wild

turkeys (Meleagris gallopavo) roamed the fields and woods

in large flocks (Thwaites 1896-1901 xxi:197).

A summary of the analysis of the 8426 faunal elements
from the 1979 excavations at the Christianson site (Prevec
1980) confirms the ethnohistoric documentation of the
faunal potential and diversity for the area.

Mammals

The frequency of mammal remains constitute the largest
portion of the sample, 80.75% (Table 1), with 41.8% of the
identifiable mammal species being white-tailed deer (Table

2). While this is the predominant mammal, it does not



TABLE 1. 1979 Christianson site sample faunal

22

classes.

Class N %

Mammalia 6804 80.75
Osteichthyes 602 7.14
Mollusca 540 6.41
Aves 139 1.65
Amphibia L2 . 50
Reptilia 35 L2
Crustacea 2 .02
Class uncertain 262 3.11
TOTALS 8426 100.00

approach in frequency the amount of deer recovered from
Hamilton and Walker sites, where it is 61.4% and 70.2%
respectively (Lennox 1977a:176, Wright 1977:217-219).

Quantitatively, beaver ( 19.1%), Canis sp. ( 12.5%), and

raccoon ( 9.1%)were the next most prevalent species. As
presumed source of meat, but just as likely as a source

hides, deer was the primary source at Christianson,

followed by elk, beaver, black bear, raccoon, and Canis

the

of

sp.. The presence of almost all parts of each body portion,

butchering marks on bones, and signs of heat exposure

indicate that these animals were used as food, and that

they were killed in the vicinity of the site, brought back

whole, and butchered at the site. Deer hides, as they did
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TABLE 2. 1979 Christianson site sample mammal species.

Species N %

White-tailed deer 586 41.8
Beaver 268 19.1
Canig sp. 175 12¢5
Raccoon 127
Elk 34
Woodchuck 30
Fisher 29
Cervidae 27
Black bear 27
Leporidae sp. 23
Black/Grey squirrel 13
Muskrat 12
Chipmunk

Marten

Peromyscus sp.
Carnivora sp.

Red squirrel
Meadow vole

Fox sp.

Skunk

Felidae sp.
Eastern cottontail
Red fox

Domestic dog
Shorttail shrew
Wolf

Grey fox

River otter

Lynx sp.

R RN
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TOTALS 1403 999




24

for the Huron (Gramly 1977), likely provided the major
source of clothing material.

The relatively high percentage of beaver from the
Christianson site is not observed at either of the later
Walker, Hamilton, Bogle I, or Bogle II sites (Table 3).

TABLE 3. Comparative species frequencies from five
historic Neutral sites.

Species Christianson Walker Hamilton Bogle I Bogle II
MAMMATL

White-tailed b1.8 70.2 61.4

deer

Beaver 19.1 3.6 3. 0 3
Raccoon Pl 6.5 16.9 .8 .6
Black/grey 1.0 10.3 1.8

squirrel

BIRD

Passenger 58.3 84,7 63.5

pigeon

Wild turkey 2.8 3.9 77

Prevec 1980

Wright 1977

Lennox 1977a, personal communication 1981

While there appears to be a decrease over time in the
amount of beaver, perhaps a result of over-hunting for

their fur, there is a corresponding temporal increase in

the presence of raccoon in the faunal inventories,
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suggesting their pelts may have begun to replace, or at
least supplement the shortage caused by the decreasing
beaver population between the 1630's and 1650's. The high
percentage of black or grey squirrel remains from the
Walker site (10.3%) in comparison to the 1.0% at the
Christianson site and the 1.8% at the Hamilton site
substantiate that this was an important fur animal to the
Neutrals living farther south in the middle of Neutralia
during the 1630's and 1640's, a pattern which is also
evident at the ca.1615-1630 Thorold site (Noble: personal
communication 1981). It is recorded that there was a
preference for the fur of the black squirrel which was made
into robes for trade, likely to Algonkian groups to the
north (Trigger 1976:62 ).

Nine human elements were recovered from non-burial
contexts: four molars, a maxillary first incisor, a distal
phalange, the proximal portion of the shaft of a right
fibula, a left naviculum, and a 25mm long bead cut from
the posterior section of the shaft of a right ulna (Prevec
1980:A26). The teeth, phalange, and fibula were recovered
from midden deposits; the naviculum from House 1 Feature
25; and the ulna bead from hearth/refuse Feature 1 on the
south slope of the site (Table 4).

Fish

Sucker (Catostomidae sp.) and catfish (Ictaluridae sp.)
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TABLE 4. Provenience of human element recoveries

Element Location
Molar MB-2PZ
Molar MB-36
Molar MC-23P%Z
Molar MA1-11P2Z
Incisor MA2-9
Phalanx MA1-10PZ
Fibula MA1-15PZ
Naviculum H1 F25
Ulna bead F1
Burial HULE F15
Burial H4E F25
Burial F20

comprise 72.4% of the identified fish remains (Table 5),
and are varieties which could be obtained locally. The
low frequencies of other varieties probably reflect
non-local origin, as in the case of sturgeon, lake trout,
bowfin, muskellunge, perch, and drum. A variety of
procurement techniques are indicated, as a netsinker, fish
hooks of bone and iron, and antler harpoons were recovered
from the site.

Birds

While passenger pigeon remains dominate the avian
sample (58.3%), as 1s common on other Neutral sites, the

larger, .but infrequently appearing wild turkey and Canada
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goose (Branta canadensis) provided a greater quantity of

food (Table 6). The low percentage of wild turkey remains

on all Neutral sites (Table 3) would seem to contradict the
ethnohistoric reports of abundantly available flocks which
inhabited the area during this period. The variety seen in
the Hamilton site inventory is absent at the Christianson
site, where passenger pigeon, goose, duck and grouse comprise

the bulk of the sample.

TABLE 5. 1979 Christianson site sample osteichthyes
species.

N

Species N

Ictaluridae sp. 43
Catostomidae sp. 34
Brown bullhead 20
Lake sturgeon 13
Yellow walleye 10
Channel catfish
White sucker
Lake trout

Bass sp.

Bowfin

Brook trout
Longnose sucker
Largemouth bass
Muskellunge
Smallmouth bass
Yellow perch
Percidae sp.
Drum

N
(@¢]
W
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w N
=
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W NN WWLWWWLW OWWNO OO

TOTALS 152 100.
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TABLE 6. 1979 Christianson site sample avian species.

Species

N

%

Passenger pigeon
Anatidae sp.
Ruffed grouse
Canada goose
Ringed-neck duck
Turkey

Chicken*
Anserinae sp.
Mallard (Black) duck
Wood duck
Tetronidae sp.
Galliformes sp.
Columbidae sp.
Raven

Crow
Passeriformes sp.

TOTALS

RPRRPRPRRPRPRERPEEFROWSII 00 oW
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U
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*domesticated i1ntrusive elements

Local Bivalves and Snails

Unionidae sp. particularly, and Elliptio sp. bivalve

fragments dominate the local molluscan inventory (Table 8).

They served multiple usages, including a food source and

ceramic temper.

O0f the 73 Unionidae sp. bivalves which
could be assigned to a side, only one
was unbroken anterior to the
pseudocardinal tooth. The rest were all
broken immediately above the tooth, and
twelve of these had a very definite
notch broken at that point. Five right

and seven left valves show these notches.

Confirming Pihl's similar observation at
the Hamilton site, it can be concluded
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that the Neutral used an established
technique to pry open the local shells,
probably to obtain live food

(Prevec 1980:39).

Land and river snails tend to be concentrated in

loosely packed undisturbed features and midden deposits

which suggest that while the river snails may have been used

as a food source, it is probable that the land varieties

are intrusive.

TABLE 7. 1979 Christianson site sample molluscan
species.*

Species N % Variety Source
Unionidae sp. 190 50.5 bivalve freshwater
Prunum apicinum 59 15.7 shail marine
Anguispira alternata 54 14,4 snail land
Elliptio sp. 23 6.1 bivalve freshwater
Megogastropoda sp. 13 3.5 snail marine
Triodopsis albolabris 11 2.9 snail land
Blood ark 6 1.6 bivalve marine
Helicodiscus parallelus 5 143 shail land
Ponderous ark 3 .8 bivalve marine
Pleuracera acuta 3 .8 snail river
Lasmigona costata 2 .5 bivalve marine
Lampsillis ventricosa 1 ! bivalve freshwater
Discus cronkhiteil 1 3 snhail land
Allongona profunda 1 3 shail land
Triodopsis tridentata 1 3 snail land
Triodopsis sp. 1 3 shail land
Goniobasis livescens 1 3 snail river
Stylommatophora sp. 1 3 snhail land
TOTALS 376 100.2

#Shell beads aside from Prunum apicinum not included.

Reptiles

Aside from two garter snake vertebrae, all reptilian
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elements belonged to turtles, including in descending order
of frequency: painted (23); Blanding's (2); spotted (1);

and map (1) (Table 8). Several fragments were charred.

TABLE 8. 1979 Christianson site sample reptilian
species.

=
N

Species

Painted turtle 2
Emydidae sp.

Blanding's turtle

Chelonia sp.

Garter snake

Spotted turtle

Map turtle

= O\
D DUt = U

R0 N W
O 0N~~~ £

TOTALS
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Amphibians
Frog and toad elements were recovered (Table 9), but
thelr presence may be intrusive in that they have the

ability to burrow to depths of three feet (Prevec 1980:24).

TABLE 9. 1979 Christianson site sample amphibian

species.
Species N %
Anura sp. 40 95.0
Toad sp. 1 2+5
Frog sp. 1 2«5
TOTALS L2 100.0
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Crustaceans

A crayfish claw and pincher were recovered from
undisturbed localities of the site. However, they may be
intrusive in that crayfish can be found burrowing in fields

near water (Prevec 1980:30).

The above fauna is to be expected on sites located
near swampy areas. These are favoured as feeding and assembly
areas, especlally by mammals, particularly during the late
autumn and winter. White-tailed deer concentrate in
localities opened by logging, burning, settlement, and other
activities which have resulted in the partial clearing of
the land, with cedar swamps being the preferred wintering
grounds even though food may be more plentiful in open areas
(Peterson 1966:324, Banfield 1974:393).

As deer congregate in large numbers in the swamps
during the late fall and winter, co-operative drives
involving hundreds of individuals in drives and surrounds
were the predominant and most productive of deer hunting
(Biggar 1929 i1ii:60-61, Wrong 1939:82, Thwaites 1896-1901
xv:183, xxii:273, xxx1ii:83). The proximity of the
Christianson site and other sites in the area to large
swamps would have made deer huntingthat much easier, in that
long distances did not have to be traversed to reach the

deer, as was commonh in historic Huronia.
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Similarly, black bear, beaver, and raccoon habitats are
forested areas near marshes and streams (Banfield 1974:160,
306, 314). Corn in the milk or roasting stage is a favourite
food for raccoons which were no doubt drawn to the cornfields
surrounding the village (Peterson 1966:227, Banfield 1974:
314).

Clearly then, the environment in this section of
Beverly Township did, and still does, favour and support
large quantities of wild game. Furthermore, the activities
of the inhabitants, such as land clearance and agriculture,
increased the density and availability of the animals.

Unlike the Huron, the Neutral rarely suffered meat
scarcities. This 1s not surprising, in light of the
potential of the land surrounding the Christianson site.

All in all, the physical environment did not leave the
occupants lacking in any resource. The Christinason site,
as well as the other Spencer-Bronte drainage sites, was no
doubt situated so as to exploit the constellation of

resources found together in such proximity.

The Christianson Site

The village, as defined by physical boundaries, palisading,
and surficial midden deposits occupies approximately 1.6

hectares (3.5 acres).
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Paligade

Three rows of what may be palisade were found in 1979
toward the northwestern corner of the site between Houses
6 and 7 (Figure 5). Palisade I, the northernmost of the
three, consisted essentially of a sporadic row of smaller
post moulds ranging between 3cm and 8cm in diameter (x=
5.17cm).

Palisade II, ranging from 1.0m to 2.7m south of
Palisade I, differs noticeably in that it consists of
larger posts ranging in diameter from 4cm to 1lem (x= 6.78
cm) in single rows and clusters. From the mass of posts to
the northwest of House 7, two single rows separate toward
the west with the north one being further segmented into
two additional rows, and then returning to its single
alignment. Numerous posts in this section of palisade
contain a fill of ash and fire reddened soil suggesting it
may have been burned at some point.

Some 2.25m to the south of Palisade II, Palisade III
presents yet another configuration before it apparently
ends just north of House 7 and before what is now believed
to be an additional house to the immediate north of House
7. Posts ranged in diameter from 4cm to 10cm (x= 6.76cm),
a near identical range and mean observed from Palisade II.
Ten pairings of post moulds comprised most of the portion

of Palisade III which was investigated. The pairings were
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separated by distances ranging between 3cm and 7cm. It may
be that this palisade portion was constructed by placing
poles with diameters between 3cm and 7cm horizontally
between the closely spaced, vertically implanted pairs of
posts. Its sudden termination, and the presumably solid
surface provided by the poles stacked in such a way suggests
that this structure may have acted as a windbreak or snow
fence for breaking the strong northerly winds blowing over
the drumlin. That Palisades I and III do not appear to
continue much further to the east of the major
concentration may further support the interpretation that
the palisade patterns were not defensive.

Superficial examination may suggest that Palisades I
and III were the walls of a longhouse overlapping Palisade
IT. However, the notable difference in post mould sizes
in Palisade I and III, their different style of
construction, as well as the absence of any features
characteristic of a Neutral longhouse, does not support
an interpretation other than the one presented.

A 30m by 1.5m trench was excavated downslope to the
west of House 7 in an attempt to locate the continuation
of the palisade. The remnants of a midden in the
ploughzone were encountered, but there was no indication
of further exterior palisade (Figure 1).

After House 6 had been identified outside of Palisade
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I, a 20m by 1.7m trench was excavated to the north to
ascertain if House 6 was in fact located outside of the
village or if it was a part of a village expansion. Aside
from several isolated post moulds and a burial, nothing
resembling a house wall or palisade was observed. In this
section of the village the downward slope is increasing,
and with House 6 on the last stretch of level terrain it
is likely that the house was simply bullt outside of the
crowded village.

The previously mentioned burial, Feature 20, contained
a flexed infant interred on its right side with the head
pointing southeast. There were no grave inclusions. The
bone was in poor condition, being compressed and fragmented
by the underlying rocky soil. Consequently, only the
basilar and dentition could be utilized to estimate age at
death. The basilar produced a range between 18 months and
three years (Redfield 1970:215). With the exception of the
second molars, all deciduous teeth had erupted, suggesting
an age of between 17 and 24 months (Anderson 1962:138).
However, based on the calcification of unerupted permanent

dentition (maxilla: the four incisors and both canines;
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mandible: two central incisors) an age of between 30 and 42
months could be assigned (Sundick 1972:33, 48). The absence
of the lateral mandibular incisors would suggest an age
closer to, i1f not younger than 30 months.

While it was documented that recent newborns were
interred along paths outside of the village in order that
they might be reborn (Thwaites 1896-1901 x:273), the
advanced age of the infant may preclude it from being
considered such a case.

Investigation for palisade along the southern edge
of the site consisted of three exploratory trenches
excavated down the steep southern slope. Toward the base of
the slope in the easternmost of the trenches, a relatively
large refuse/hearth, Feature 1, was encountered, as was an
irregular clustering of post moulds. The identification of
this as a section of palisade was made difficult by the
extremely gravelly nature of the soil.

Midden Deposits

Six refuse concentrations were investigated. Aside
from the deposits in the centre of the village (Area A Pit
5, Midden A-1, and Midden A-2) which appear to have been
natural depressions filled with refuse, the peripheral
middens tended to be surficial.

Midden A

Situated at the northeast corners of the superimposed
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Houses 4E and 4W were two discrete shallow midden remnants
(Figures 6, 10, 12). That each of the middens can be
distinguished as belonging to the separate houses is
suggested not only by their position, but by certain
artifact attributes, most notably ceramic tempering. House
4W and Midden A-1 contained respectively 4.00% and 4.81%
shell tempered ceramics; while affinities between House

4LE with 20.41% and Midden A-2 with 9.03% are not as
convinecing, the overall higher frequencies would tend to

- support such a relationship (Table 10, Figure 7).

The undisturbed subsurface extent of Midden A-1 was
approximately 320cm by 230cm by 12cm, with that of Midden
A-2 being 520cm by 310cm by 20cm. That Midden A-1 and Midden
A-2 are separate depositions is suggested by the differing
stratigraphy of the undisturbed portions. Midden A-1
consists primarily of a grey-brown ash layer mottled with
charcoal, topsoll and subsoil, while Midden A-2 contains
distinct layers of ash, charcoal, and those which have
varying amounts of topsoil and subsoil intermixed with the
former two.

Midden B

On the western slope, some 20m west of House 7,
artifact and faunal remains were concentrated in an area of
approximately 7m by 4m within the ploughzone. No undisturbed

sections of this peripheral midden were encountered.
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TABLE 10. Areal distributions of ceramic tempering.

Grit Shell TOTALS
N % N %

House 1 201 43.04 266 56.96 Y
House 1 excluding 127 94,78 7 5,22 134
Feature 3
House 2 21 95.45 1 4,55 22
House 3 23 79.31 6 20.69 29
Housgse 3 excluding 15 100.00 0 0.00 15
Feature 29
House 4E 39 79.59 10 20.41 49
House A4W 96 96.00 L 4,00 100
House 4 association 3 23.08 10 76.92 13
unknown
Houses 4E, A4W, 138 85.19 24 14.81 162
unknown
totalled
House 5 1 100.00 0.00 1
House 6 9 100.00 0 0.00 9
Midden A-1 851 95.19 43 4.81 894
Midden A-2 1209 90.97 120 9.03 1329
Midden B 339 96.58 12 3.42 351
Midden C 123 86.01 20 13.99 143
Midden D 6 85.71 1 14.29 7
Feature 1 131 96.32 5 3.68 136
Area A (1969) 1736 80.97 408 19.03 2144
Area B (1969) 8 87.63 12 12.37 97
Area C (1969) 49 98.00 1 2.00 50
Area D (1969) 1 100.00 0 0.00 1
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Midden C

Substantial quantities of artifacts were recovered
from this area adjacent to the laneway. Three, one-metre

excavated

squares wereAto subsoil from this presumed northeastern
peripheral midden. As with Midden B, Midden C appears to
have been a surface deposit, for there were no indications
of undisturbed deposits.

Midden D

The area from Midden C to Midden D consisted of a
ploughzone which was deep and dark black. Where surficial
recoveries were greatest in the Midden D area, which is to
the southeast of House 6 and perhaps incorporated into the
palisade, 4.8Om2 were excavated. There were no undisturbed
deposits and ploughzone recoveries were negligible. However,
the general scattering of refuse essentially defines the
northeastern periphery of the site.

Feature 1

As previously mentioned, a 246cm by 140cm by 20cm
refuse pit/hearth was located midway down the slope toward
the southeastern corner of the site. That it exhibited
distinct fire reddened soil, ash and charcoal layers, and
contained 458 pieces of faunal material, many of which were
charred and calcined, suggests it was a hearth, with the
post moulds found about it perhaps having been related to

food preparation activities. The abundance of artifacts:
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136 pieces of pottery, 1 pipe fragment, 44 flakes, 3 cores,
2 biface fragments, a netsinker, a piece of rolled and
folded copper, 10 shell beads and a human ulna bead, is
uncharacteristic for a hearth. The availlable evidence
suggests that Feature 1 was used as a peripheral refuse
pit.

Area A Pit 5 (x-5)

Excavated in 1969, this centrally located refuse pit
measures 38lcm by 198cm by 33cm (Figure 8). Situated in a
natural depression, this midden was composed of undisturbed
alternating layers of grey ash, white ash, and charcoal. The
recovery of two iron axe fragments and two glass beads from
the upper 8cm of the midden provides a partial basis for

dating the site.

Neutral Longhouse Structural Features

Previous investigations of protohistoric and historic
Neutral houses (Noble 1972a, 1972b, Lennox 1977a, Wright 1977,
Lennox 1978, Warrick 1979a) permit the identification of
certain structural features which appear to be characteristic
of Neutral structures of this period. Longhouse interiors
tend to be uncluttered with ancillary pits and many of the
internal features repeatedly found have structural
interpretations. Consequently, there is some uniformity and

predictability in the internal organization of the Neutral
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longhouse, although those from Walker (Wright 1977) and
Thorold (Noble 1980) exhibit variability.

Post Mould Patterns

Initial side wall construction frequently appears to
have taken the form of a regular staggered pattern. Assumed
long +termoccupation would tend to obliterate this pattern
with the addition of further support posts. Instances of both
were observed from the Christianson site house walls. Such
regularity was not always present. On houses which were
apparently short term, such as House 7, post moulds along the
side walls were placed in no apparent pattern.

There tends to be greater spacing between end wall post
moulds than between those in the side walls at Christianson.
Also, there tends to be but a single row, not a staggered or
cluttered appearance, as with the side walls. Where there
are extremely cluttered side walls, as in House 1,
cluttered ends, through rebuilding, may also be expected.

Linear End Features and End Sections

Elongated features, interior and parallel to the ends
of protohistoric and historic Neutral longhouses, may be
remnants of partitions that divided the habitation portion
from the storage end sections (Noble 1972a, Lennox 1977a,
1978, Wright 1977, Warrick 1$79a). Linear end features at
the Christianson site ranged in length from 108cm to 222cm,

in width from 14cm to 20 cm, and in depth from 16cm to 37cm.
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Mean measurements were 163.50cm, 17.50cm, and 24.67cm,
respectively. In profile they tend to be straight-sided and
flat-bottomed, and rarely contain any artifactual material.
At the Hood site, three vertically placed planks measuring
about 20cm wide by 2cm thick were preserved edge to edge in
a linear end feature indicating the method of construction
of these partitions (Lennox 1978:22). Elsewhere, Noble (1972a,
1972b) and Wright (1977) believe the linear end features are
the result of disintegrated bark curtains.

Where linear end features were present in the
Christianson site longhouses, the end sectlions so defined '
ranged in length from 3.2cm to 6.7cm, with a mean of 4.8cm.

"Slash Pitg"

Another diagnostic feature of Neutral longhouses, first
found and defined in 1970 by Noble (1972a) at the Hamilton
site, 1is the presence of straight-sided, flat-bottomed oval
pits which run parallel to the interior of house side walls.
At Christianson, "slash pits", where they occur, lie inside
the side walls, between 90cm and 130cm. Again, preservation
of non-carbonized wood in such pits at the Hood site
indicates that the pits functioned to support two planks
placed edge to edge. Boards measured approximately 8cm wide
by 2cm thick, and presumably extended to the roof of the
longhouse to act as a partition between the central communal

section and the storage and sleeping sections of the houses
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(Lennox 1978:22).

Rarely observed in the continuous nature seen in Houses
1 and 2 at the Hamilton site (Noble 1972a, Lennox 1977a:15),
"slash pits" are more frequently seen sporadically along the
house walls in small clusters. Christine Dodd (personal
communication:1980) contends that such a patterning may
indicate that the platform was not continuous along the
length of the longhouse. Furthermore, ethnohistoric
documentation suggests raised platforms along the side walls
were used for storage, or as vantage points for ceremonies,
games and meetings, and not exclusively for sleeping (Dodd
1980:7, 12).

The "slash pits" in the Christianson site longhouses
ranged in length from 22cm to 66cm, with a mean of 39.25cm;
in width from 5cm to 36cm, with a mean of 16.15cm; and in
depth from 4cm to 40cm, with a mean of 25.65cm. Rarely did
they contain anything aside from small amounts of
miscellaneous debris. Dimensions of "slash pits" from the
Hamilton and Hood sites, with the exception of the depths
from the Hamilton site, are comparable (Table 11).

Internal Division Pits

Other recurring features observed in the Christianson
longhouses appear to compartmentalize the central corridor.
There are four varieties of features appearing immediately

inside of the "slash pit" line: 1. those exhibiting "slash
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TABLE 11. Mean "slash pit" dimensions from Neutral sites.

Christianson Hood* Hamilton¥*#*
(cm) (cm) (cm)
Length 39.25 38 35.56°'
Width 16.15 16 15.24
Depth 25.56 21 12.70

* Lennox 1978:22
*¥*¥ Tennox 1977a:19

attributes, 2. oblong basin-shaped pits, 3. circular basin-
shaped pits, and 4. large post moulds.
The relationship of the internal division pits to the

"slash pit" line 1s shown in Figure 9. In some instances

& = et e Ty LT e T e ---..'. House side wall

"Slash pit" line
Internal
division pits

Central hearth
line

FIGURE 9. Varieties of internal division pit alignments with
"slash pits".

these internal division pits are bilateral (e.g. House 1

Features 25 and 35, House U4E Feature 4 and Post 37, House 4W
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Features 9 and 23, House 6 Features 7 and 14), suggesting
that some sort of partition may have continued across the
interior. However, in the majority of the Christianson site
longhouses these pits were not symmetrically expressed,
suggesting that the divisions did not compartmentalize the
interior to the same extent that the linear end partitions
did.

While statements regarding the size of individual
compartments may be premature in that not all interiors were
completely excavated, of the 10 or 11 compartments identified,
the mean length was 4.18m, or 3.95m, if the 1.75m compartment
in House 4W was included (Table 12). This compartment size
corresponds favourably with the average of 15 feet (4.55m)
of living space per family estimated by Heidenreich (1971:
117) based on hearth spacing.

The repetitive nature of Neutral longhouse interiors is
substantiated by the Christianson site data. Staggered, and
cluttered side wall post mould patterns are seen, as are both
well defined and amorphous end walls. The interiors are
commonly divided by linear end features into central living
and storage end sections. The storage sections are generally
about five metres in length. Within the living section of the
longhouse a series of oval features running parallel to, and
about one metre in from the house wall probably represent

the supports for a raised platform used for storage or as an
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TABLE 12. Christianson site longhouse compartment

metrics.

Compartment Compartment Size
House 1

Feature 9 - Features 25/35 L.75m

Features 25/35 - Feature 45 L, 50m
House 2

Feature 14 - Feature 20 5.25m
House 3

Feature 4 - Post 68 3.50m

Post 68 - Feature 29 3. 50m

Feature 29 - Features 45/46 5.25m

Features 45/46 - Features 47/50 3.75m
House 4E

Feature 4/Post 37 - Feature 22 L.25m
House 4W

Features 9/23 - Feature 18 1.75m

Feature 18 - Feature 26 4,00m
House 6

Features 7/14 - Feature 9 3.00m

observation point for events in the longhouse. Further
division of the central corridor into family units is
suggested by a variety of features which are consistently
placed just inside of the "slash pit" line. Delineated
compartments are consistent in size.

The only non-structural features which are observed, or
at least readily identifiable, are large centrally aligned
hearths. Smaller hearths do appear occasionally toward the

"slash pit" lines. Absent, however, are central support posts.
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Overall, there are relatively few pits cluttering the

interior of historic Neutral longhouses.

House Structures

A total of nine, or perhaps ten, structures have been
identified from four areas of the site; the central core and
adjacent southern edge, the west central area, the northwest
periphery inside the palisade, and the area outside of the
northern section of palisade. The first and the last two areas
were investigated in 1979, while the west central area was
excavated in 1969.

With the exception of House 1-69 from the west central
area which measured 6.1m by 5.9m (Noble 1970:14), all other
structures conform in length and width with longhouses
recovered from other protohistoric and historic Neutral
sites (Table 13), ranging in length from 16.5m to 44.5m and
in width from 7.0m to 7.8m. House 6, at 44.5m is exceedingly
long, and if it is excluded, the next longest structure is
28.5m, a result more consistent with longhouse length from
other Neutral sites. House lengths at the Fonger site range
from 17.0m to 28.5m (Warrick 1979:10), at the Walker site
from 6.4m to 35.5m (Wright 1977:14), at the Hamilton site
from 18.9m to 32.0m (Lennox 1977a:18), and at the Hood site
from 7m to 24m (Lennox 1978:20). ,Shorter structures, such as

House 1-69, were found at the Walker and Hood sites.
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TABLE 13. Christianson site house metrics and

orientations.
House Length Width Orientation Extensions
(m) (m) (degrees) west east
1 26.0 7.8 65 no no
2 21:5 Tl 80 no yes
maximum estimated
3 34 7.6 82 yes ?
estimated
4E 18.5 7.1 85 no no
Ly 20.5 D 75 no no
28.5 70 80 not apparent
L, 5 <5 87 not apparent
7 16.5 2.2 4s not apparent
1-69 6.1 5.9 90 not expected

A notable aspect of the settlement patterning at the
Christianson site is the closeness of structures, indicating
a crowded settlement, assuming contemporaneity of structures.
The minimum distances between adjacent houses presented in
Table 14 gives an idea of the compact arrangement of
longhouses.

As with the longhouse spacing, orientations of the
structures tend to be rather consistent, essentially in an
ENE-WSW direction, which is generally perpendicular to the

prevailing winds.
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TABLE 14. Minimum distances between adjacent longhouses.

House House Distance
(m)
i | 2 1.5
1 LE 1.9
1 L .6
2 3 -
2 LE 7 (estimate)
% Lw 5 (estimate)
4FE 5 1:7
Ly 5 13
7 82 2.5

House 1 (Figure 10)

The western half, and portions of the eastern end wall
of this 26m by 7.8m longhouse were excavated. Tree roots and
a buried laneway prevented further excavation in the
eastern section of this structure.

Ends and Doorways

Only the west end wall was completely excavated, and it
is a well defined square end. There is a possible doorway
toward the gouthwest corner, approximately 60cm in width.
Incorporated into the northern half of the end wall is an
elongated pit, Feature 1, 235cm by 38cm by 13cm, which
contains numerous post moulds suggesting that it may be the

remnants of a wall trench, a feature commonly found in the
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undisturbed houses at the Walker site. The contention is
that these features are the remains of entrenched bark flaps
which would act to insulate the longhouse (Wright 1977:60).

Interior Features and Divisions

Linear End Features and End Sections

In the excavated western end, two linear end features
were found, 4.5m from the end wall.

Centrally aligned, and one metre from the west end wall,
Feature 3 is a large (184cm by 134cm by 30cm) pit with four
distinct layers. An abundance of carbonized wood and other
floral remains lined the bottom of the pit. Above this was
a layer containing a large number of artifacts. While
artifacts were scattered throughout the various layers of
the pit, the major concentration was from this layer. In
total, Feature 3 produced 333 pieces of pottery from at
least seven vessels (4 shell tempered, 3 grit tempered), 12
lithic flakes, and a single shell discoidal bead. Of note,
77.78% of the ceramics were shell tempered, while for the
rest of the house only 5.22% of the 134 pieces of pottery
were tempered with shell.

Covering the artifact layer were two layers of fill,
primarily consisting of subsoil, topsoil, and some charred
material. Post moulds and Feature 4 were found beneath
Feature 3, but one large post mould (3-p.1), post-dates

the apparent closure of the pit. That the pit may have
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functioned for something other than refuse deposition is
suggested by the patterning of posts around its periphery,
as well as the abundance of floral material, ceramics and
by-products of a hearth. Carbonized encrustations on the
interior of several rimsherds suggest that it may have
functioned as a focd preparation pit. Notable, however, by
their general absence, were faunal remains.

"Slash Pits" and "Slash Pit" line Features

Along the south "slash pit" line, eight features were
identified. However, there may have been additional features
east of Feature 31 which have been obliterated by tree root
disturbances. Four of the features, 16, 30, 33 and 36,
possess "slash pit" attributes; Feature 34 differs in plan,
Feature 32 in profile, and Features 31 and 44 differ in both
respects. These last two features also differ from the 1.2m
distance from the south wall of the other features, being
1.1m distant.

Probable historic disturbances, Features 5 and 18 run
parallel to a removed iron fence. Feature 5 contained
abundant aboriginal material, including 89 pieces of lithic
detritus, two projectile point fragments, one preform, 15
pottery fragments, a complete pipe bowl, and a brass
bracelet fragment, suggesting that the feature may have
disturbed an aboriginal feature within the northwestern

area of the house. As a result of such disturbance, only
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three "slash pits" were identified inside the north wall,
Features 23 and 24 being 1.0m inside, and Feature 22 being
1.2m inside the wall. The three "slash pits" are, however,
equidistantly spaced from each other at 70cm.

Internal Division Pits

Three features, 25, 35, and 45 are all basin-shaped,
similar in size and location inside their respective "slash
pit" lines, and such regularity, particularly with the
opposing situation of Features 25 and 35, may indicate that
these features may have functioned to demarcate living
sections. Furthermore, Feature 9 runs parallel to linear end
Feature 6 toward the projected "slash pit" line, a pattern
also seen in House 3, perhaps being another means of
delineating living space.

Hearths

The most striking feature of House 1 is the number and
size of the hearths. Nowhere else within the other houses
were such concentrations observed. The depth of the
ploughzone in this area suggests that, if anything, these
hearths should not have been preserved. Consequently, the
lack of disturbance of the living floor cannot be an
explanation why such a density of larger hearths is
present. Longevity of occupation may more profitably be
offered as an explanation.

Three of the hearths, Features 8, 42, and 43 are
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centrally aligned with distances between the edges and
corresponding "slash pit" lines ranging from 180cm to 200cm.
Located much closer to the south "slash pit" line are
Features 40 and 41 at distances of 80cm and 100cm,
respectively, which would appear to have affected
maneuverability, if not occupation, in this section of the
longhouse.

Generally, the hearths are elongated in form, but vary
in length and width. Feature 8 is the longest, stretching
from just outside of the linear end features for some three
metres. In length, Features 41, 42, and 43 are shorter, but
have relatively similar widths, ranging from 66cm to 120cm.
Feature 40, in overall size is the largest, being 250cm by
160cm. In depth, the hearths range from 6cm to 15cm.

Distances between hearths are not great, ranging from
10cm to 70cm, distances which were likely smaller before
disturbance of the living floor occurred. Clustered
around, and within Features 8 and 43, are numerous post
moulds and features, perhaps remnants of cooking and/or
drying structures. Such patterns are not present to the
same extent around the peripheries of the other hearths.

A variety of artifacts were found in the hearths, with
lithic detritus predominating. In Features 42 and 43, 75 and
38 pieces of chert, respectively, were recovered. All

were burnt, and they tended to be substantially smaller
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than lithic material recovered from other features. For
example, the 42 complete flakes in the 0g-.49g weight
category from Feature averaged .10g, compared to a more
normal mean of .25g. From Feature 8, 11 pieces of chert,
a pipe bowl fragment, and a burnt scraper were recovered,
while Feature 40 produced 5 pieces of chert and one neck
sherd. Three body sherds, a shoulder sherd, and five pieces
of chert came from Feature 41. Aside from chert in Features
L2 and 43, three body sherds and an iron hook fragment came
from Feature 42, while a pipe stem, 3 body sherds, and a
glass bead fragment of the IIIm- variety (Kidd and Kidd 1970)
were recovered from Feature 43.

Remarks

Further evidence, aside from the clustering of hearths,
which may indicate relatively long term occupation of the
house 1s the cluttered nature of the house walls. A
regular, offset post mould pattern is not evident,
suggesting either rebuilding as a result of fire, or simply
the addition of further support posts over a long period of
occupation. The former is indicated by the abundance of
ash filled post moulds in the southwestern corner of the
house.

A notable feature of House 1, aside from the
concentration of shell tempered pottery in Feature 3, is the

relative abundance of European items. Besides the glass bead
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fragment in Feature 43, and the iron hook fragment in
Feature 42 (Figure 60:4), a glass bead fragment of the
IITIal2 variety (Kidd and Kidd 1970) was found in "slash

pit" Feature 30, while an iron knife blade was recovered
from Feature 17 (Figure 60:11). Other features which deviate
from either being sterile or containing limited ceramic or
lithic detrital refuse include Feature 25 which had 25
pieces of lithic detritus and a single piece of pottery, and
Feature 29, with 57 pieces of ceramics and 7 of lithic
detritus. Feature 23 contained a variety of artifactual
material; 9 pieces of pottery, a pipe mouthpiece, a
projectile point, 25 pieces of lithic detritus, and bone
bead and bone bead blanks from-a dag tibia and a white-
tailed deer phalanx (Prevec 1980:B8).

House 2 (Figure 11)

The area of House 2, particularly the central and
southern sections, was disturbed by @ stone fence row and
laneway which are at present covered by the ploughzone. As
a result, it was possible to excavate only the northern
half of the house.

Ends and Doorways

The lack of clear definition makes it impossible to
say anything substantive about the ends. There was,
however, perhaps an earlier end toward the eastern end of

the house as evidenced by a sporadic and somewhat irregular



61

alignment of posts passing through Feature 1, to the west of
the rock, and between Features 3, 5 and 6. While not

totally convincing, its nature does not preclude it from
being a squared east end. Continuing from the northeast
corner is a further line of post moulds which appear to be
turning but which also end abruptly. If the curvature is
extrapolated i% would give a length of 21.5m to the house,
but if it is not included, the house measures 19.5m in
length.

Interior Features and Divisions

Linear End Features and End Sections

Toward the western end, a linear end feature was
found in the excavated northern section, approximately 3.5m
in from the presumed west end wall. No such feature was
observed in the eastern end, but a large refuse pit/hearth,
Feature 1, was located in the northeastern corner.
Measuring 280cm by 135cm by 56cm, Feature 1 fill consisted
of topsoil, subsoil, and fire reddened soil, with distinct
lenses of ash and charcoal. Two posts found beneath the
shallower edges of the pit may be part of the initial east
end wall, suggesting the feature belongs to the expanded
end. Found within the pit were 51 pieces of lithic
detritus, 13 pileces of pottery, 2 brass bracelet fragments,
a core, a lithic drill fragment, a pipe mouthpiece, a

sharpening stone, and two netting needles manufactured
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from mammal bone (Prevec 1980:B14). A variety of faunal
remains were recovered from the feature. Most notable were
the number of dog remains which showed evidence of charring
and cutting. Specimens ranging in age from immature to very
0ld were represented (Prevec 1980:69). To the immediate
northwest of Feature 1 is Feature 36 which contained
charcoal, ash, and fire reddened soil, suggesting it may
have been a refuse pit associated with Feature 1.

"Slash Pits" and "Slash Pit" Line Features

Nine features comprise the north "slash pit" line, five
which conform with "slash pit" plan and profile; Feature 8,
11, 13, 19 an 21. Features 12, 22 and 27 exhibit a more
basin-shaped profile. Distances of these features from the
north wall range from 90cm to 130cm. This variance is not
a result of their lack of alignment from each other, but
rather that the "slash pit" line feature alignment does
not run exactly parallel to the house wall. Consistency,
however, 1s lacking in distances between the features in
the "slash pit" line, belng irregularly spaced from 20cm to
to 2U0cm apart, perhaps indicative of several discontinuous
raised platforms.

Internal Division Pits

Approximately 10cm to the south of and parallel to
"slash pit" line Features 12 and 13, the elongated basin-

shaped Feature 14 may be a remnant of some sort of divider
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between groups within the longhouse. Feature 20, which is
oriented perpendicular to the "slash pit" line and 20cm to
the south, resembles a "slash pit" and may also have served
to divide the living section of the house.

Hearths

Two centrally aligned hearths were identified,
approximately 180cm south of the "slash pit" line. Separated
by 50cm, Features 2 and 17 measure 120cm by 58cm by 9cm, and
190cm by 60cm by 8cm, respectively. A clustering of posts
around Feature 17 may reflect its usage for cooking or some
other undertaking which would require a rack. Features 15
and 25 contain ash, charcoal, and fire reddened soil, and
are located approximately two-thirds of the way to the
"slash pit" line from the central hearth line.

Remarks

Historic disturbances and the gravelly nature of the
area may account for the sketchy nature of House 2.
Nonetheless, through the confusion, the essential and
basic features of the Neutral longhouses are present.

Outside of the artifacts found in Feature 1,
recoveries were limited to Features 8, 17, 24 and 28 in
quantities of but one or two pieces of pottery or lithic
detritus.
House 3 (Figure 11)

The portion of the longhouse located within the
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ploughed field was excavated almost in its entirety;
however, the eastern section which continued into the lawn
and garden was not investigated. Consequently, it is not
known with any precision how much longer than the 25.8m
investigated the structure was. Assuming symmetrical
construction, an overall length of 34m was estimated. House
3 has a width of 7.6m.

Ends and Doorways

Two separate western ends are readily discernable. The
original end is rounded and particularly well defined by
clusterings of posts in the southern half. A doorway with a
width of approximately 60cm appears to have been present
in the middle where the pattern is broken.

The 3.8m expansion also tapers into a well defined
rounded end. Toward the southwest corner, a 50cm separation
between posts may be identified as a doorway.

Interior Features and Divisions

Linear End Features and End Sections

Two sets of linear end features demarcate the end
sections for both the original and expanded house, with
Features 45 and 46 being 6.5m in from the original end wall,
measuring 160cm by 20cm by 37cm, and 166cm by 20cm by 36cm,
respectively. The linear end features, 51 and 52,
associated with the extension were notably larger, 200cm

by 15cm by 17cm, and 222cm by 18cm by 24cm respectively, but
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are similarily situated at a distance of 6.7m from the
end wall.

"Slash Pits" and "Slash Pit" Line Features

That an expansion of the house did take place is also
reflected in the nature and arrangement of "slash pits" and
"slash pit" line features in that a differing pattern is
seen in the extended section, which was initially the
original end section. The "slash pit" line associated with
the unexpanded house consisted of, along the south line,
eight straight-sided, flat-bottomed pits, and four pits,
Features 3, 13, 24 and 28, which did not exhibit typical
"slash pit" attributes, particularly in their shallow basin
profiles. With the exception of Feature 14 which, while
possessing characteristic "slash pit" features, is oriented
diagonally to the rest of the features in the "slash pit"
line and differs further from the more consistent 1.30m to
1.45m range of distances exhibited by the other features.
Spacing between pits, in most instances, is also consistent,
ranging from 1.0m to 1.2m; however, the spacing is less when
the more questionable pits are included.

The corresponding north "slash pit" line does not
exhibit similar density, for there are but four features,
18, 19, 21 and 22 in the "slash pit” line. All of these
features possess characteristic "slash pit" attributes.

Feature 18 however, is not in alignment with the other
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"slash pits", being directed in a more northeasterly
direction. Spacing between Features 19, 21 and 22 are more
than twice the distance than that observed between definite
"slash pits” in the south line, 2.4m and 2.8m, respectively.
Soil conditions cannot be cited as an explanation for the
absence of a more closely spaced north "slash pit"” line.
Following expansion of House 3, a corresponding
extension of the "slash pit" lines was undertaken between
the two sets of linear end features; however, the nature of
the north and south lines differ markedly. Four sets of
"slash pits" comprise the south line with the line of
Features 36, 38, 41 and 43 being an extension of the
original south "slash pit" line. Their corresponding Features
37, 39, 42 and 44 are approximately 10cm to the south, and
between the pairs of 36 and 37, and 38 and 39, flat rocks
were positioned in an upright position. Rocks were also
found in Feature 41 and these may have acted as supports
for the planks or bark dividers. Distances between the
"slash pits" are quite uniform, with 60cm separating the
pits of the northernmost row, while distances between the
southern members are either 60cm or 70cm. The individual
"slash pits” of the western pair are both 60cm from linear
end Feature 51. The southern row ranges from 1.1m to 1.2m
from the house wall, while the northern row varies from 1.4m

to 1.5m.
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In contrast to the patterning along the southern wall,
there is a single, not so regular alignment of features,
some which could be classified as "slash pits", and others
which morphologically are not "slash pits", but which are
located in the "slash pit" line. Features 33 and 34 are
notably larger than the other "slash pits" in House 3, being
60cm and 66cm respectively, and also are closer to the house
wall, at 90cm. Features 30 and 32, and 31 to a lesser
extent, are also in alignment with the north "slash pit"
line; however, their surface plan and basin shape precludes
them from being classified as "slash pits". They ranged
from 80cm to 120cm in from the north wall, and were but a
hair's breadth from each other. Furthermore, these features
contained rocks which may suggest that while they do not
resemble "slash pits", they may have served a similar
function.

Internal Division Pits

Perpendicular to, and to the immediate northeast of
Feature 3, the straight-sided, flat-bottomed Feature 4 may
be a remnant of an internal living section division.
Similarily, the large post mould, Post 68, which is 22cm in
diameter and greater than 50cm in depth, and Feature 29
placed perpendicular to Feature 27 may have functioned
similarily in the original, unexpanded structure. Feature

29 contained a rock toward the bottom, and in profile is
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is identical to Feature 4.

There were not, however, palrings for Feature 29 and
Post 68 inside the north "slash pit"” line, but the
consistency in distance between these features may be more
than coincidental.

Likely associated with the expansion of House 3 are
two pits, 47 and 50, which may have served as internal
division pits. This seems especially likely with Feature
50 which is located perpendicularly to, and 40cm south of
the north "slash pit" line, half way between the last
"slash pit", Feature 34, and the linear end Feature 51.
Also, it is larger, shallower, and does not possess straight
sides.

Hearths

Feature 26 is the only feature in House 3 which could
be identified as a hearth, and it is but a small and
extremely shallow example. Slightly closer to the north
"slash pit" line, 1.8m as compared to 2.6m, the presence of
a single, small hearth may be explained, although not
convincingly, as a result of deep ploughing which disturbed
the living floor. As other features do not, in depth, seem
to have suffered from such a practice, i1t may be more
probable that the hearths were elther shallow, suggesting
lack of intensive utilization and/or occupation of the

house, or simply that there were no large hearths, perhaps
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suggesting that cooking, drying, and such other activities
were done elsewhere, and heating of the house was
unnecessary.

Remarks

Various features were found throughout the house whose
function or relationships with other identifiable features
were not discernable. Contents of these pits also do not
present any diagnostic attributes. As far as artifact
content of pits is concerned, only Feature 18, 29 and 39
contained quantities or varieties of artifacts which deserve
mention. Generally, if the pits were not sterile, their
yields of ceramics and lithics were low. Aside from 8 pieces
of lithic detritus, Feature 18 produced an intact pipe bowl/
elbow (Figure 50:2). Feature 29 may not be notable for the
variety of artifacts, but with 14 pieces of pocttery (6
sheil tempered) and 14 pieces of lithic detritus (1 Kettle
Point), it is notable for its quantity. From Feature 39, 2
pieces of pottery, 3 of lithic detritus (1 Kettle Point), a
projectile point, and a scraper were recovered.

While not overwhelming, there are, however, several
features of the artifact assemblage which deserve comment.
The frequency of shell tempering in House 3 is 20.69%;
however, shell tempered ceramics are restricted to Feature
29. Only House 1 has a higher frequency, but as was the

case with House 1, the overall percentage is not reflective
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of the house as a whole in that shell tempered ceramics were
concentrated in a single pit. Furthermore, the presence of

3 pleces of Kettle Point chert reflects incursions into, or
results of contact with groups in southwestern Ontario or
Michigan.

The relatively cluttered nature and irregularity of the
post mould pattern indicative of reinforcement of the walls,
as well as the addition of an end extension suggests
occupation over an extended period of time. This seems to
contradict the axiom that the quantity and size of hearths,
and cluttered interiors indicate a long duration of
occupation. By no means, however, does the clustering of
posts approach that seen in House 1 walls. The presence of
ash and fire reddened soil in Features 30, 32, 33 and 45,
and posts along the north wall between the two sets of
linear end features suggests rebuilding may have been
necessitated, perhaps not too long after initial construction
of the house. House 3 inhabitants may well have been
dumping their ash and refuse into midden Area A, Pit 5.
The similarity in frequencies of shell tempering for House
3 (20.69%) and Area A (19.03%) would tend to support such
an assoclation.
House 4E (Figures 10 and 12)

With the exception of the west central section and

the northern portion of the western end, the house was
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House 4E and Midden A2

FIGURE. 12. Overlay of overlapping House 4E and 4W,
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excavated in its entirety. House 4E was 18.5m in length and
7.1m in width.

Ends and Doorways

The sguared east end wall is well defined with
several post mould clusters along the end and at the
corners. There may be a doorway just south of the centre,
approximately one metre in width. The west end is poorly
defined in that during excavation it was not realized to be
a separate end of an overlapping house. However, the
abruptness at which the south wall seems to be turning
suggests a square end. The gap between the last identified
post mould and the edge of excavation may then have been a
doorway, which was during excavation interpreted as the end
of a random scatter of posts.

Interior Features and Divisions

Linear End Features and End Sections

No linear end features were identified in House 4E,
and the proximity of "slash pits"” to the end walls further
suggests there were no end storage sections.

"Slash Pits" and "Slash Pit"” Line Features

Features 7, 11, 12, 28 and 31, situated toward the
ends of House 4E are all that appear to remain, or perhaps
just as likely, existed, of a regularly spaced south "slash
pit" line. The eastern three, 7, 11 and 12 are spaced 1.0m

apart, while 28 and 31 are 1.4m apart. The reason for the
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9.3m gap between Features 7 and 28 is not readily apparent..
It may indicate that the "slash pit" line (raised platform)
need not be continuous along the house wall, as suggested
by Christine Dodd (personal communication 1980).

As previously mentioned, the south "slash pit" line
continues almost to both ends, being 2.2m from the east end
wall and 1.4m from the west end. The "slash pit" line is
about 1.3m in from the south wall of House 4E.

A north "slash pit" line is not so readily defined.
Features 3 and 6 resemble the matching "slash pits" found in
House 3, being 5cm apart. Respectively, they are 90cm and
120cm inside the north house wall. The only other feature
which could be classified as a "slash pit" is Feature 2,
but being only 4cm deep and slightly out of alignment, may
question its designation. Feature 22 has been associated
with House 4E as a "slash pit" line feature only because of
its alignment with Features 2,3 and 6.

Internal Division Pits

Post mould 37, with a diameter of 23cm and a depth of
36cm, located some 35cm north of, and midway between "slash
pit"” Features 11 and 12, and Feature 33, may have served as
interior living section divisions along the south wall.
Feature 4 has a similar position as Post 37 in relation to
both end and side walls, at distances of 2.7m and 1.6m,

respectively.
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Feature 33 is but 70cm in from the west end wall,
suggesting that storage was in some other structure or
within the living section proper.

Hearths

Proceeding under the assumption that the larger hearths
were centrally aligned, Features 8 and 13 are shallow
hearths associated with House 4E. The respective edges of
Feature 13 are then 3.0m from both the north and south walls.

Burials

Two infant interments were located in the House 4E-4W
complex, but have, for various reasons, been identified as
belonging to House U4E.

Parallel to, and 70cm in from the south wall, Feature
15 appears to be a part of this house. That three post
moulds are intrusive into the greatly disturbed burial
confirms the association with the initial House 4E. There
was no articulation of human bone among the few fragments
which consisted of phalanges, teeth, and some vertebral and
innominate fragments.

Intentional grave inclusions were 92 small discoidal

shell beads, 57 marginella (Prunum apicinum) shell beads,

L tubular shell beads, 3 large discoidal shell beads, 2
globular shell beads, and four European glass beads; 3 of
the IIa56 variety and a single IIIml type (Kidd and Kidd

1970), for a total of 162 beads (Figure 56:1-5, 61:4-5).
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One strand of 43 discoidal shell beads was recovered in the
southeast corner of the pit, but the rest, like the bone,
were scattered throughout the pit. If the paucity of bone is
any measure, there must have been many more inclusions which
at the time of excavation were also missing, indicating the
individual was afforded a lavish interment. Such treatment
was also observed in certain of the interments at the Hood
site where infants had been buried in the living section of
the ionghouse (Fitzgerald 1979a).

Aside from the posts within the burial, other forms
of disturbance and refuse were present within the burial
fill, iIncluding a small rodent skull, fish vertebrae,
undiagnostic bone fragments, chipping detritus, pottery
fragments, shell, and charred wood and corn. No burning
on the human bone was apparent, suggesting the latter two
inclusions may just be miscellaneous refuse, despite the
fact that carbonized corn was included in large quantities
in the House 10 Feature 36 burial at the Hood site, while
lacking evidence of burning on the bone (Fitzgerald 1979a:
54), Feature 15, however, lacked the concentration seen in
the Hood site burial.

The fragmentary nature of the skeletal remains made
aging of the infant difficult, however, the pubis provided
an approximate age of 6 months (Reynolds 1945:334), but it

seems that this measurement underestimates the age of
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individuals as will be seen with burial Feature 25.

Directly across from Feature 15, parallel to, but only
Scm in from the north wall, was the other burial, Feature
25. Again, its orientation would suggest it belonged to the
earlier house in that it would be in the "slash pit" line of
House 4W. This burial, in contrast to Feature 15, was a
complete extended skeleton lying on its back, hands to the
sides, and with the head directed toward the west. With the
exception of a IIal3 glass bead fragment (Kidd and Kidd 1970)
(Figure 61:7), in the top of the burial fill, grave
inclusions were absent. Age estimates ranged from 3 months
to 14 months with the majority of estimates in the 6 month
to 12 month range. Basilar, pubis and ischium lengths
produced age estimates of between 3 months and 6 months,
ilium length 6 months to 9 months, sciatic notch breadth
12 months, and ilium breadth 12 months plus (Reynolds 1945:
334, Redfield 1970:215,216). Longbone estimates were not as
precise as the other indicators, simply giving a range for
all longbones as 6 months to 18 months (Johnston 1965:251).
Dentition was fragmentary, but the unerupted right maxillary
canine and molars suggest an age of less than 11 months
(Anderson 1962:138) or between 6 months and 15 months
(Sundick 1972:31).

If the model derived for burial types from the Hood

site has any validity, this burial would then be of a
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temporary nature (Fitzgerald 1979a).

Remarks

Generally, the house walls are uncluttered, presenting
a regular offset post mould pattern, and the relative lack
of non-structural features and shallow hearths suggests a
short period of occupation for House 4E. A possible
reason for this may be that an abundance of posts from the
house walls are filled with ash or fire reddened soil,
indicating that fire may have destroyed the structure. Such
apparent complete destruction of the house resulted in the
construction of another, House 4W, over but on a slightly
different alignment than the initial structure.

Notable is the relatively high percentage of shell
tempered pottery recovered from House 4E, 20.41%. Otherwise,
and aside from the artifacts in Feature i5, pit contents
were few and of a nondescript nature, either being ceramic
fragments or lithic detritus.

House 4W (Figures 11 and 12)

All but the northwest quadrant of the 20.5m by 7.2m

house was excavated.

Ends and Doorways

As with its precursor, House 4W exhibits squared
eastern and western ends. There are several wide gaps in the
eastern end wall but there seems to be a central space

defined on both sides by several posts which are 1.5m apart.
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Such a central doorway was also observed in the eastern
end of House 4E. Also, House 4W seems to follow the
pattern set by House 4E in having a one metre wide doorway
at the west end toward the southwestern corner.

Interior Features and Divisions

Linear End Features and End Sections

As with House 4E, linear end features are absent at
both ends, however, "slash pits" and interior division pits
do not continue to the end walls, apparently in this case
allowing space for end storage sections. If Features 9
and 23 demarcate the boundary between living and storage
space in the east end, and Feature 32 serves the same
function in the west end, then end storage sections are
both four metres in length.

"Slash Pits" and "Slash Pit" Line Features

Almost identical to the south slash pit line of House
LE, the corresponding line seen in House 4W is quite
regular at either end. There is, however, a 4.9m space
toward the centre where no "slash pits" were identified.
The "slash pit" line runs parallel to the south wall with
individual pits at distances of 1.2m and 1.3m. As were
Features 28 and 31 in the House 4E ”"slash pit" line, the
corresponding west end "slash pits" of House 4W are 1.4m
apart. However, the respective distances between the

eastern five "slash pits"; 10, 19, 17, 16 and 20, are 50cm,
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50cm, 60cm and 30cm, a much closer placement than that of
eastern "slash pits" from the south line of House 4E.

As with the south "slash pit" line, there is a notable
separation, 5.3m, between the two features which could be
classified as "slash pits”, Features 24 and 27, even though
the latter does not possess the straight-side, flat-bottom
profile. Their respective distances from the north house
wall are 1.3m and 1.2m. The shallowness, non-alignment,
and location in the proposed end section has precluded
Feature 1 from being considered as a "slash pit".

Internal Division Pits

Features 9 and 18 are both perpendicularly placed to
the immediate east of "slash pits"” 10 and 17 respectively,
and possess "slash pit" attributes. Along the north "slash
pit" line, Feature 23 appears to be the match for Feature
9. The pair, as mentioned previously, demarcate the living/
storage boundary in the absence of linear end features.
Feature 26 is also placed at right angles to, and along the
long side of "slash pit" Feature 27 instead of at its
corner as was the relationship between the three previously
mentioned internal division pits and their associated
"slash pits". Both north line division pits also possessed
the attributes of "slash pits".

The sequence of "slash pits” 28 and 31 in combination

with interior division pit 33 in the southwest corner of
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House 4E is identically reconstructed in House 4W, where
Feature 32 is located 60cm west and 5cm north of, and
perpendicular to Feature 30. Feature 32, however, in
comparison with Feature 33, resembles more closely the
"slash pits".

Hearths

Feature 20 can be assoclated with House 4W if for no
other reason that its edges are located equidistantly at
3.3m from both side walls. Toward the northeast corner in
the end section is an additional hearth which probably
belonged to House L4W.

Remarks

The walls for House 4W are similarly uncluttered, if
not moreso, than those of House 4E, and the relatively
sterile end and living sections of the house suggest less
intensive occupation than, for example, House 1.

0f interest, along